
 

County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI (01785) 276142 

Please ask for Jonathan Lindop 
Email: 

jonathan.lindop@staffordshire.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Joint Archives Committee 
 
Thursday, 6 February 2020 
10.30 am 

County Record Office, Stafford 

 
John Tradewell 

Director of Corporate Services 
29 January 2020 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 
1. Apologies  
 
2. Declarations of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16  
 
3. Minutes of meeting held on 14 November 2019 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
4. Predicted Outturn 2019/20 and 2020/21 Revenue Budget (Pages 7 - 16) 
 
Joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Families and Communities 
(Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community Services (Stoke-
on-Trent City Council)  
 
5. Predicted Performance Outturn 2019/20 (Pages 17 - 30) 
 
Joint Report of the Deputy Chief Exective and Director of Families and Communities 
(Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community Services (Stoke-
on-Trent City Council) 
 
6. Staffordshire History Centre Project - Update (Pages 31 - 36) 
 
Joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Families and Communities 
(Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community Services (Stoke-
on-Trent City Council)  
 
7. Review of Terms of Deposit (Pages 37 - 46) 
 
Joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Families and Communities 
(Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community Services (Stoke-
on-Trent City Council)   
 
8. Date of next meeting - Thursday 11 June 2020 at 10.30 am, City Central 

Library, Hanley  
 



9. Exclusion of the public  
 
The Chairman to move:- 
 
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business which 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 indicated below”. 
 

 
PART TWO 
(All reports in this section are on pink paper) 
 
10. Relocation of Stoke-on-Trent City Archives (Pages 47 - 50) 
 
(exemption paragraphs 2 and 3) 
 
Exempt joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Families and 
Communities (Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community 
Services (Stoke-on-Trent City Council)  
 
11. Update on Archives and Heritage Service Reorganisation (Pages 51 - 56) 
 
(exemption paragraphs 2 and 3) 
 
Exempt joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Families and 
Communities (Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community 
Services (Stoke-on-Trent City Council)  
 
 
 

Membership 
 

Gill Heath 
 

Lorraine Beardmore 
 

 
Note for Members of the Press and Public 
 
Filming of Meetings 
 
The Open (public) section of this meeting may be filmed for live or later broadcasting or 
other use, and, if you are at the meeting, you may be filmed, and are deemed to have 
agreed to being filmed and to the use of the recording for broadcast and/or other 
purposes. 
 
Recording by Press and Public 
 
Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is permitted 
from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of the chairman, disrupt 
the meeting.  
 



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Joint Archives Committee 
meeting held on 14 November 2019 

 
Present: Gill Heath and Lorraine Beardmore 

 
Apologies for absence:  Mike Davies and Gill Burnett 
 
PART ONE 
 
10. Declarations of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest made. 
 
11. Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2019 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2019 be confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 
12. Predicted Outturn 2019/20 
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for 
Families and Communities (Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and 
Community Services (Stoke-on-Trent City Council)  giving details of the predicted 
outturn for the Joint Archives Service for 2019/20 (Schedule 1 to the signed minutes). 
 
Members noted that to date, the Joint Archives budget net spend was £400,313 or 
63.2% of the total budget for 2019/20. At the year-end the budget was forecast to be 
overspent by £177,269 owing to greater than anticipated spends on (i) Staffing 
(£179,943); (ii) Transport (£1,376) and; (iii) Supplies and Services (£11,466). However, 
this situation was predicted to be offset by an over recovery of income by £15,516. 
 
In addition, they noted that (i) the balance in the General Reserve was currently 
£294,830 following receipt of a £1,364 grant from the New Burdens Fund for the transfer 
of public records under the ‘20 Year Rule’; (ii) the balance in the Archive Acquisition 
Reserve was currently £57,542 (iii) that £10,300 grant aid received from the Art Fund 
Futures Fund towards the cost of the Doulton Project Archivist Post had been 
transferred to the City Council’s General Reserve following the Postholders resignation 
and; (iv) the use of £30,000 from the General Reserve to install environmental controls 
in the basement of City Central Library had been delayed until the next financial year.  
 
During her presentation of the report, the Deputy Chief Executive sought approval from 
the Committee to use £4,000 from the General Reserve as match funding for the 
Development Phase of the Staffordshire History Centre Project following the successful 
Round One bid. 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That the use of £4,000 from the General Reserve as match funding for the 
Staffordshire History Centre project be approved. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

- 2 - 
 

 
 
 
13. Review of Fees and Charges 
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of 
Families and Communities (Staffordshire County Council) and the Director of Housing 
and Community Services (Stoke-on-Trent City Council) regarding a review of the Joint 
Archive Service’s fees and charges for 2020/21. 
 
Members noted that the Archive Service’s fees and charges were reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure that they reflected changes in demand and costs of providing the 
various services available in terms of staff time, equipment and travelling. In addition, 
account was taken of the prevailing economic climate and the availability of the on-line 
service offer. 
 
For 2020/21 it was proposed that the charges levied for (i) the supply of photocopies; (ii) 
talks; (iii) visits and (iv) permission to publish were left unaltered owing to their inclusion 
in 2019/20’s review. However, the Research Fee and associated charges eg Staff 
Facilitation Fee and Photographic Fee had been increased and a revised full schedule 
of the proposed new charges was circulated at the meeting for Members’ consideration. 
 
During his presentation of the report Director of Housing and Community Services 
highlighted that income from Research and Associated Fees had been declining in 
recent years owing to the increasing availability of archive material on-line. 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That the revised schedule of fees and charges be approved for introduction by the 
Joint Archive Service from 1 April 2020.  
 
14. Staffordshire History Centre Project 
 
The Committee considered a joint report by the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for 
Housing and Communities (Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Families and 
Community Services (Stoke-on-Trent City Council) updating them on the development 
of the Staffordshire History Centre Project. 
 
The Archive and Heritage Service had submitted a bid to the National Lottery Heritage 
Fund (NLHF) on 8 May 2019 for Phase One grant funding towards the development of a 
Staffordshire History Centre comprising (i) accommodation for records; (ii) new 
community exhibition space and; (iii) modern search rooms and strong rooms to provide 
storage for an additional 25 years of future collections. 
 
Following consideration by the NLHF, the Service was notified on 4 September 2019 
that they had been awarded a grant of £36,000 which could be used towards the 
following, approved, purposes:-  
 

 High visibility acknowledgement of the NLHF and lottery players on site, online 
and in all other activities; 

Page 2



 

- 3 - 
 

 Proactive measures to promote inclusiveness, remove barriers to access and 
reach new and diverse audiences through the delivery of this project; 

 A review of the building design works; 

 Hosting pilot sessions with schools, universities and colleges to test learning 
material; 

 Finalising the lease, land transfer and Partnership Agreement and; 

 Increasing existing staff hours to enable cataloguing of William Salt Library 
Collections and re-package for future removal.   

 
A start-up meeting between the Project Team and representatives of NLHF was held on 
21 October 2019 at which the Team received positive feedback. In addition, they were 
provided with advice and guidance on completion of the necessary work which was due 
to commence at the end of November 2019. Further advice and support was to be 
provided by an external consultant.  
 
Members noted that during this Phase the various Plans produced in support of the 
previous bid would be reviewed and refreshed and further efforts made to secure 
additional match funding. They also noted the costs for the Development Phase were as 
follows:- 
 

Cost Element Amount 
£ 

Contracted/Consultants 14,000 

Staff 18,000 

Other 3,000 

Legal 4,000 

Contingency 1,000 

Total (Phase One) 40,000 

Grant Award 36,000 

Match Funding (from General Reserve) 4,000 

 
During her presentation of the report, the Deputy Chief Executive highlighted that there 
were no major changes proposed to the design of the building. Also, Dr. Alix Slator of 
Alix Slater Consultancy and Training had been appointed to provide mentoring services 
in support of the project and initial meetings with him had been helpful. She re-iterated 
that further efforts would be made to seek additional match funding so that the total 
grant request during Phase Two could be minimised. 
 
With regard to the timetable set out in the report, the Deputy Chief Executive clarified 
that Permission to Start had been completed in November 2019 and not 2020 as stated. 
Whilst every effort would be made to ensure the success of the Project, in the event the 
Staffordshire History Centre failed to attract Phase Two funding, contingency plans had 
been developed in order to provide some resilience. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received and noted. 

Page 3



 

- 4 - 
 

 
 
15. Conservation of Shelley Pottery Archives 
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for 
Families and Communities (Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and 
Community Services (Stoke-on-Trent City Council) regarding donations received from (i) 
the family of Mr. R. Renolds; (ii) The Shelley Group (UK); (iii) National Shelley China 
Club (USA) and; (iv) The Australasian Shelley Collectors Club Inc towards the 
conservation/repair/restoration of the 35 Shelley Potteries Ltd Pattern Books included in 
the Minton Archive. 
 
Shelley Potteries had produced a wide variety of pottery in both fine china and 
earthenware from the early part of the 20th Century through to its take-over by Allied 
English Potteries in 1966. Its products were sought after by collectors and had a wide 
following throughout the world. The Pattern Books provided essential information of 
interest to collectors/historians for the identification and authentication of pieces 
produced by the factory. However, all the books were, to some degree, in poor condition 
ranging from missing spines to complete disintegration of their structures. Therefore, the 
three collectors’ organisations together with the family of the late Mr. R Reynolds (the 
last Decorating Manager of the Company prior to its takeover) had made donations 
enabling all the books to be conserved/repaired/restored, as follows:- 
 

Donor  Amount 
£ 

The Reynold’s Family 900 

The Shelley Group (UK)  

National Shelley China Club (USA)  

Australasian Shelley Collectors Club Inc  

Total 10,572 

         
During the discussion which ensued, Members expressed their appreciation on behalf of 
the two Authorities for the above donations. In response to a request from the 
Committee, the Director of Housing and Community Services undertook to draft letters 
of thanks to the individual donors, for signature by the Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
prior to despatch. 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That letters of thanks be sent to the Family of Mr. R. Reynolds and organisations 
concerned, on behalf the Joint Archive Service, for their kind and generous donations 
enabling the 36 former Shelley Potteries Pattern Books included in the Minton Archive to 
be conserved, repaired and restored, as necessary. 
 
16. Standard Text for Archive Service Policies 
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for 
Families and Communities (Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and 
Community Services (Stoke-on-Trent City Council) regarding the adoption of standard 
introductory text for all Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Joint Archive Policies. 

Page 4



 

- 5 - 
 

 
The Joint Archive Service were awarded Accredited Service status under The National 
Archives’ (NA) Scheme in 2017. However, during the assessment various actions were 
highlighted in order to make further improvements including a light touch review of the 
Services’ Policies to ensure consistent branding, balance and cross referencing. In 
addition, the Conservation Management Plan developed for the Staffordshire History 
Centre Project also recommended the alignment of key policies across the Archive, 
Museum and William Salt Library Services. 
 
Of the nineteen policies across the above-mentioned services, ten were included within 
the Committee’s Terms of Reference. The remaining nine were either the responsibility 
of the Chief Officer under Scheme of Delegation arrangements or the William Salt 
Library Trust. Accordingly, new standard introductory text had been developed for those 
Policies within the Committee’s purview to explain the composition, vision and values of 
the Service, as follows:- 
 
“Staffordshire Archives and Heritage comprises Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent 
Archive Service, the William Salt Library and the County Museum Service. The 
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service is an Accredited Archive Service 
administered and funded by Staffordshire County Council and Stoke on Trent City 
Council under a joint agreement. The William Salt Library is a charitable library delivered 
by the Archive Service on behalf of the Trustees. The County Museum is a provisionally 
Accredited Museum funded by Staffordshire County Council and works in partnership 
with museums across the County and region to provide museum development support. 
 
The Archive Service manages and delivers services via Staffordshire Record Office, 
Stoke on Trent City Archives and the William Salt Library. A significant proportion of the 
County Museum Service’s collection is on long term loan and public display at 
Shugborough Estate. The Archive Service provides services for Staffordshire County 
Council in relation to its legal documents and archives.   
 
The vision is: 
Connecting people to the collected stories and heritage of Staffordshire, Stoke on Trent 
and beyond. 
 
The mission is: 
To connect people to the memories of Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent, by engaging 
them with the collections we develop and preserve for current and future generations”. 
 
 
In the Discussion which ensued, the Committee requested that the reference to 
‘Shugborough Estate’ in the above-mentioned text should be preceded by ‘National 
Trust’s’ in order to clarify the current position regarding the ownership and management 
of the estate.  
 
In reply to a question from the Member representative of the City Council, the Deputy 
Chief Executive undertook to include relevant Organisations’ logos on the various 
Policies, as necessary. She also informed Members that Staffordshire County Council’s 
Head of Archives and Heritage Service had recently been appointed to NA’s 
Accreditation Panel. 

Page 5



 

- 6 - 
 

 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That subject to the inclusion of ‘National Trust’s’ in the second paragraph, preceding 
‘Shugborough Estate’, the above-mentioned text be included into all Staffordshire and 
Stoke-on-Trent Joint Archives Service’s Policies, as necessary. 
 
(c) That appropriate organisational logos be included on all Staffordshire and Stoke-on-
Trent Joint Archives Service’s Policies, as necessary.  
 
17. Date of next meeting - Thursday 6 February 2020 at 10.30 am County 
Record Office, Stafford 
 
RESOLVED – That the date, time and venue of their next meeting be noted. 
 
 

Chairman 
 
 

Page 6



 
 

Local Member 
Interest 

Nil 

 
STAFFORDSHIRE AND STOKE ON TRENT JOINT ARCHIVES 

COMMITTEE 
 

6th February 2020 
 

JOINT ARCHIVE SERVICE – PREDICTED OUTTURN 2019/20 & 2020/21 
NET REVENUE BUDGET 

 
Recommendation(s) 
  
1. That this report informing the Joint Committee on the predicted outturn for 

the Joint Archive Service for 2019/20 is received and noted. 
 

2. That the 2020/21 net revenue budget be approved by the Joint Archive 
Committee. 

 
Joint report of the Director of Finance & Resources and the City Director 
of Resources - Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. The Joint Archive Service net revenue budget for 2019/20 is currently 

estimated as a £179,285 overspend. The General Reserve currently holds 
a balance of £294,830 and the Archive Acquisition Reserve currently 
holds a balance of £57,542. 
 

4. The 2019/20 Joint Archive net revenue budget is approved. 
 

Background 
 

Net Revenue Outturn 2019/20 
 
5. The predicted outturn for the Joint Archives Service is set out in Appendix 

2. It is expected that the service will spend £813,055 compared to its 
current approved budget of £633,770 to give an overall estimated 
overspend of £179,285 following the impact of MTFS savings taken from 
2019/20 based budget for Staffordshire County Council. 
 

6. To date, the Joint Archives net spend is currently £600,046 or 94.6% of the 
net revenue budget (as at 27th January 2019) and is currently anticipated 
to be overspent by £179,285 by the financial year end.  This is a slight 
increase of £2,016 from November’s meeting. 

 
7. Of this overspend, a further assessment of the net spend forecast 

indicates that at the year end estimated overspends on staffing and 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



training of £179,570, Transport £1,185 and Supplies and Services of 
£11,160. These overspends are forecasted to be slightly offset by an over 
recovery of income totalling £12,630 (predominantly from grants and 
reimbursements and Fees and Charges). 

 
8. The net revenue outturn spend for the Service is set out in Appendix 2.  

This overspend, if and when realised, will be covered by Staffordshire 
County Council at the end of the financial year. 

 

Reserves 
 

9. There are currently two Reserves which are held by the Joint Archive 
Service, these being the General Reserve and the Archive Acquisition 
Reserve. The balances on these two Reserves are set out in Appendix 3. 
 

10.  The General Reserve currently has a healthy balance of £294,830 
following the receipt of £1,364 in New Burdens Funding. 

 
11.  Following the Joint Committee’s approval at the November meeting, the 

Committee should note that £4,000 has been drawn down from the 
General Reserve as match funding for the development phase of the 
Staffordshire History Centre project following the successful round one bid. 

 
12. The Archive Acquisition Reserve, which enables the Joint Archive Service 

to purchase local collections for the benefit of archives users in both the 
City and the County, currently holds a balance of £57,542 which has 
remained unchanged for several years 
 

 
Net Revenue Budget 2020/21 
 
13. The detail of the 2020/21 net revenue budget for the Joint Archive 

Committee can be found as Appendix 4 to this report. 
 

14. Following approval at the Committee Meeting in February 2019 the   
budgetary apportionment method changed from the apportionment of 
revenue expenditure based on the Registrar’s General’s most recently 
published population estimates to a new funding arrangement based on 
each Authority’s budgetary requirements for the operation of their part of 
the service.  This will enable both authorities to meet their commitments 
as funding and budgets reduce. 

 
15. The impact of this is that Staffordshire County Council’s Joint Agreement 

budget is £451,020 (68% of the total JAC budget) whilst the Stoke on 
Trent City Council’s budget has been set at £214,100 (32% of the total 
JAC budget). 

 
16. The total joint Archives Service’s budget for 2020/21 is £665,120, an 

increase of £31,350 from 2019/20’s budget as a result of inflationary 
increases of 2% of staff budgets and 1.5% on non-employee budgets.  

Page 8



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Equalities implications: 
 

No significant implications. 
 

Legal implications:  
 

For 2019/20, the Joint Archive Agreement budget will be subject to an annual 
Audit and return. 
 

A review of the current Joint Agreement. 
 

Resource and Value for money implications: 
The Joint Agreement budget is monitored regularly throughout the year. 
 

Risk Implications: 
 

No significant implications. 
 

Climate Change Implications: 
 

No significant implications. 
 

Health Impact Assessment screening: 
 

No significant implications. 
 

Report author: 
 

Author’s Name: Lee Bickerton,  
   Senior Finance Business Partner (Decision Making) 
Telephone No: (01785) 854879 
Room Number: Finance Unit, Staffordshire Place 1 
 
 

List of Background Papers 
Joint and Other Archive Services 2019/20 & 2020/21 budget file. 

Page 9





Joint Archives Service Appendix 2

Predicted Outturn Position 2019-2020

Current Actual Predicted Current Actual Predicted Current Actual Predicted Current Actual Predicted
Budget Expenditure Outturn Budget Expenditure Outturn Budget Expenditure Outturn Budget Expenditure Outturn

@ Dec-2019 @ Dec-2019 @ Dec-2019 @ Dec-2019
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Expenditure

Employees 280,980 272,192 369,215 211,580 230,316 300,955 124,700 95,117 126,900 617,260 597,625 797,070
Training 240 0 0 0 0 0 900 0 900 1,140 0 900
Transport 820 1,056 1,182 100 583 923 300 5 300 1,220 1,643 2,405
Supplies & Services 4,520 2,338 4,527 18,000 6,913 18,102 19,200 19,347 30,251 41,720 28,598 52,880

Total Expenditure 286,560 275,586 374,924 229,680 237,811 319,980 145,100 114,469 158,351 661,340 627,867 853,255

Income

Grants & Reimbursements 0 0 350 0 0 0 200 14,155 14,170 200 14,155 14,520
Sales 0 0 0 9,150 4,983 7,150 400 247 410 9,550 5,230 7,560
Fees & Charges 0 0 0 9,160 6,166 12,103 1,900 2,209 2,670 11,060 8,375 14,773
Miscellaneous 3,220 0 2,100 3,540 59 1,246 0 1 1 6,760 60 3,347

Total Income 3,220 0 2,450 21,850 11,208 20,499 2,500 16,612 17,251 27,570 27,820 40,200

Net Expenditure 283,340 275,586 372,474 207,830 226,603 299,482 142,600 97,857 141,100 633,770 600,046 813,055

Predicted Overspend 179,285

Total for ServiceStaffordshire County Council Sites and 
Public Services

Core Services Stoke-on-Trenty City Council Sites and 
Public Services

P
age 11





Staffordshire Stoke on Trent Total
County Council City Council

£ £ £

General Reserve

Balance brought forward 1 April 2019 271,524 36,243 307,767

2019/2020 Transactions
New Burdens grant funding 1,364 1,364

0
0
0

Future Commitments
Staffordshire History Centre - match funding -4,000 -4,000
Art Fund Grant - Minton Archive -10,301 -10,301

Balance Available (as at 31 March 2020) 268,888 25,942 294,830

Acquisition Reserve

Balance brought forward 1 April 2019 57,542 0 57,542

2019/2020 Transactions
0
0
0
0

Future Commitments
0

Balance Available (as at 31 March 2020) 57,542 0 57,542

Joint Archives Reserves

Appendix 3

Page 13





Joint Archives Service Appendix 4

Budget 2020-2021

Expenditure

Employees 274,220 232,760 141,600 648,580
Training 240 0 900 1,140
Transport 830 100 300 1,230
Supplies & Services 4,590 18,340 19,200 42,130

Total Expenditure 279,880 251,200 162,000 693,080

Income

Grants & Reimbursements 0 0 200 200
Sales 0 9,290 400 9,690
Fees & Charges 0 9,300 1,900 11,200
Miscellaneous 3,270 3,600 6,870

Total Income 3,270 22,190 2,500 27,960

Net Expenditure 276,610 229,010 159,500 665,120

Funded by: Staffordshire 451,020 68%

Stoke-on-Trent 214,100 32%

Total for ServiceStaffordshire County Council Sites and 
Public Services

Core Services Stoke-on-Trenty City Council Sites and 
Public Services

££££

P
age 15





 Members Interest 

N/A 

 

Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Joint Archive Committee 
6 February 2020 

 
 
 

Predicted Performance Outturn 2019-2020 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 

1. That the Committee note the predicted performance outturn for the service. 
 
Report of Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families and Communities 
(Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community 
Services (Stoke on Trent City Council) 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

Background  
 

2. The Joint Archive Service has worked to a three year planning cycle since its 
inception in 1997. The scope of the seventh plan was extended to ten years as it will 
transform the service and will take more than three years to deliver some of these 
changes. The ten-year Plan was reviewed and updated in 2018 and approved by the 
Joint Archive Committee on 3 April 2018. 
 
3. The Forward Plan and Annual Service Delivery Plan covers the Joint Archive 
Service and the Museum Service for the County Council. Together the services are 
known as ‘Archives and Heritage’.  
 
4. A summary of progress for 2019-2020 is given below with a fuller report on each 
element of the plan at Appendix 2. Progress since September 2019 has been 
boosted by the successful outcome of the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) 
Round 1 bid for £3.9m funding for the Staffordshire History Centre project. Delivery 
depends on the round 2 bid due in 2020 being successful.  
 
Developing an Active Partnership approach 
 
5.  The partnership between the Archives and Heritage Service and William Salt 
Library Trust is continuing as it assesses alternative proposals for the Staffordshire 
History Centre project (SHC). Stakeholder meetings were revived to support the 
development of the round 1 application to NLHF and consultation with partners has 
commenced. 
 
6. Work has re-commenced to establish a Development Trust to continue fundraising 
for the SHC after the NLHF funding had ceased. This has now reached the stage of 
drafting the constitution and appointment of the first trustees to register with the 
Charity Commission. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



7. Work to develop new partnerships and specialist interest groups has continued 
very successfully.  Two university partner projects are ongoing, and work continues 
with the Michelin and Lancers volunteers.  
 
8. Volunteers have continued to be recruited to support the delivery of two externally 
funded projects and a new exhibition research group has been established. 
Preservation volunteers are diverting their work to assist with repackaging work at 
the William Salt Library. 
 
9. The service completed consultation on revision to the opening hours at 
Staffordshire Record Office which were implemented in July 2020. The number of 
volunteer hours is estimated to be around 6,500 for the end of March. This is a 3% 
increase compared to the previous year of 6,308 for the end of March.  This has 
improved as new volunteer groups have been established. 
 
Resilience and sustainability 
 
10. The service successfully achieved a round 1 pass from NLHF with a £36,000 
development grant for the SHC project.  Work has commenced on the new 
development phase. Additional funding has been secured through a new National 
Archives Testbed fund to support digital drop-in sessions across the county. £35,000 
of funding has been secured through a section 106 agreement for the Rugeley 
Power Station. This will support transfer of the archive and creation of an exhibition 
in partnership with the Museum of Cannock Chase.  
 
11. A cross service exhibition team was established with the delivery of the Distinctive 
Staffordshire Exhibition in the summer at Staffordshire Record Office. Additional 
smaller displays delivered at Staffordshire Record Office and History Access Point on 
the themes of Queen Victoria, D-Day, Moon landings, Civil War, Christmas, and new 
accessions received during the year. 
 
12. The service also continued its annual work programme focussed on collections. 
This includes the conservation programme, cataloguing new collections and 
improving descriptions of existing collections. The Doulton Described project to 
catalogue more records from the Minton Archive was completed supported by 
funding from a National Archives Cataloguing Grant. The Bawdy Courts and Asylum 
projects have continued with data being extracted to enrich the catalogue and 
improve discoverability of collections for users. 
 
Reaching and engaging new audiences 
 
13. The majority of work in this area has focussed on establishing an exhibition team 
and an exhibition volunteer research group. Distinctive Staffordshire was the first 
exhibition delivered by the new team. The volunteer group will support their first 
exhibition, Pushing up Daisies, to be launched in March.  
 
14. The service continued to attend community events and supported two local 
communities at Chebsey and Colton to deliver their own projects.  Approximately 
1,034 have attended events and talks. Twenty-eight talks have been delivered by the 
service so far. 

Page 18



 
15. Learning activities have been provided through the Staffordshire History Day and 
two partnership study days. The service has continued supporting school, university 
and college placements. 
 
16. Delivery of a more formal learning programme is entirely dependent on external 
funding to establish it. The service is currently advertising for a learning consultant.  
 
Sharing knowledge across the sector 
 
17.  The Archive and Heritage Service contributes to the wider sector working with a 
number of different organisations. It is an active member of Archives West Midlands 
with two county council staff as trustees including Chair of AWM.  The head of 
service presented at the Discovering Collections, Discovering Communities 
conference in November on behalf of Archives West Midlands. Other staff presented 
at the West Midlands Museum Development event, Society of Bookbinders 
conference and Rural Museums conference. Case studies have been provided for 
the LGA on Archive Service transformation, and the Collections Trust. 
  
18. Partners, users and volunteers continue to contribute to project blogs with two 
new ones launched for the Bawdy Courts and Asylum projects. Project staff attended 
an academic conference to promote the Asylum project. 
 
19. The service continues to work closely with local history groups and museums to 
share knowledge and support work in local communities. It supported five groups 
around their archives and preservation and collections care. 
 
Online presence and remote access 
 
21. Work has begun to review the Digital Plan developed for the SHC. This involves 
consultation with key partners such as the City’s Potteries Museum and Art Gallery 
and the County’s Historic Environment team. 
 
22. Online content has increased with the addition of three new name indexes to the 
Staffordshire Name Indexes site and addition of 1,511 images to Staffordshire Past 
Track website. Visits to online content remain high at 1,625,299 to date, a 30% 
increase.  
 
23. Work on digital preservation has made progress with staff attending training 
made available through membership of Archives West Midlands.  
 
24. 282 Staffordshire Tithe Maps have been digitised supported by £13,500 of 
funding raised by Friends of Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service. A 
solution to enable online access is being tested with Staffordshire ICT.   
 
Conclusion and the year ahead 
 
25. It has been a more successful year for the service with  a second round 1 pass 
from NLHF for the SHC in September 2019. The service is commencing the second 

Page 19



development phase with a view to strengthening the proposals to secure a round 2 
pass this time.  
 
26. The service has taken forward several externally funded projects which would 
have been match funding for the SHC project. The Bawdy Courts and Asylum 
projects are delivering fascinating insights into these collections via two very active 
project blogs.  
 
28. The service has consolidated work with local groups and organisations and has 
built volunteering hours back up from the decrease seen in the previous year. New 
roles have been developed for volunteers at the History Access Point and the 
exhibition group.  
 
29. Online access has continued to grow through the service online catalogue and 
social media as well as commercial access through Find My Past.  
 
30. The service still has to implement a new structure to enable delivery of its MTFS 
savings. Work has commenced on proposals to be consulted on with staff later in 
2020.   
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Equalities implications: 
 
The service plan includes initiatives to widen access to a wider range of users.  
  

Legal implications: 
The work of the Archive Service is governed by the Joint Agreement and other 
legislation to enable both authorities to meet their legal obligations.  
 

Resource and Value for money implications: 
 

The Archive Service has delivered its work within existing resources and utilised 
grant funding to help improve access to collections. 
 

Risk implications: 
 

The SHC project depends on a successful round 2 application. Alternative plans 
have also been developed.  
 

Climate Change implications: 
 

The work of the service balances online access and physical access to services and 
collections to offer options for remote use and not necessarily travel to multiple 
locations.  
Health Impact Assessment screening: 
 

The service offers opportunities for volunteers to get involved and add value to the 
service with support and accredited training programmes from staff. Volunteering 
provides many social benefits for individuals which can impact positively on health.  
 

Report author: 

Page 20



 

Authors’ Names: Joanna Terry, Head of Archives & Heritage 
 
Telephone No:  (01785) 278370 
Room No: Staffordshire Record Office 
 
List of Background Papers 
 

Papers  Contact/Directorate/ext number 
 

 
Appendix 2: Summary of Predicted Performance Outturn 2020 

Page 21





Archive and Heritage Service Delivery Plan 2019/2020                                                                                       Appendix 2 
 
Service Demand 1: The Archives and Heritage Service is developed by an Active Partnership between Councils, users, depositors, 
partners, volunteers in all areas of the service including: funding, management and delivery. 
 By 2025: 

 Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Councils will see the service as having the lead role to play in the county and city, caring for their  

historically-valuable collections, and enabling their enjoyment and use by residents and visitors alike, supporting health and wellbeing 

outcomes.  

 The work of the service will be viewed as relevant to a wide range of organisations and individuals through joint delivery and 

commissioning of projects. 

 Fundraising by stakeholders has increased significantly. 

 

Service Delivery Activities Key Milestones 

1.1  Valuing and respecting the involvement of 
our partners in our service and actively 
crediting their participation and identity 

Staffordshire History Centre Project Board is a partnership between the County Council and William Salt Library which 
enables the delivery of the project. 
The Project Team has been reformed again working with the Trust. 

1.2  Developing and strengthening existing 
partnerships 

Development trust work has been completed and now awaiting implementation, registration of the charity and 
appointment of its first trustees.  
 
Tamworth Volume of Victoria County History is due to be published this year. This is delivered in partnership with Keele 
University  
 
Partnership projects with Michelin and Queen’s Royal Lancers continued to enable data to be created to promote the 
collections online.  
 

1.3  Developing new partnerships with 
enthusiast and specialist interest groups 

Staffordshire Pauper Vouchers Project continued to be delivered with Keele University with receipt of AHRC funding. 
Staffordshire has supported Cumbria and East Sussex Archives to establish their volunteer programmes within the 
project. 
 
Staffordshire Place Name project volunteer group continues delivered with Nottingham University also supported by 
AHRC funding.  Two volunteer groups are established Staffordshire Record Office and Lichfield History Access Point. 
 
Revealing Voices Project completed with the Pottery Heritage Society.  Local radio and oral history files to be available 
at Stoke on Trent City Archives with audio clip on Staffordshire Past Track website.  

1.4  Empowering users and stakeholders to 
contribute regularly to the development of 
policies and plans 

SHC stakeholders and network were consulted on the digital offer for the round 1 application. Partners about being 
consulted about other strands of work.  

1.5  Creating a range of regular consultation 
activities such as teachers or user panels. 
Users feel they are involved in developing the 

A focus group was formed in Codsall to comment on digital plans. Consultation on the revision to the opening hours 
consultation in May 2019 with implementation from July. 
 

P
age 23



 
 

service  

1.6  Developing a training and support 
programme for stakeholder fundraisers 

Training plan for new volunteers was trialled at the History Access Point. 
Officers have supported the Friends in their successful fund raising and attend their committee meetings. 

1.7  Developing volunteering and 
apprenticeship programmes in partnership 
with other providers 

Wellcome Trust Asylum Records Project and Archives Revealed Lichfield Consistory Court projects has recruited 
volunteers to support delivery. Both projects are supporting two PhD students on a funded placement. 

1.8  Expanding the volunteer programme in 
terms of numbers and roles undertaken, to 
add value to the service alongside the 
professional staff team 
 

Volunteer roles have been developed for the Lichfield History Access Point.   
New volunteers continue to be recruited to the service including a newly established exhibition group. 

Performance Measures Number of volunteer hours given to the Service: 6,500 
Customer satisfaction rating: Estimated 98% 

 
Service Demand 2: Archives and Heritage Service has been re-shaped and redesigned to encourage resilience, new ways of working 
and refocusing its delivery to the needs of users.  
 

By 2025: 

 The service is housed in buildings which are accessible, welcoming and comfortable. The customer experience is warm, 

welcoming and inspiring. Users are easily able to use and engage with collections and share their knowledge. 

 The service cares for and develops collections which reflect present and past life in Staffordshire and Stoke and are appraised to 

ensure they meet our collection policies. 

 All collections are stored in compliance with sector standards. 

Service Delivery Activities Key Milestones 

2.1  Ensuring that the service is financially 
solvent and stable, and/by increasing 
its mix of external funding 

 

Stage 1 HLF bid £3.9m for Staffordshire History Centre submitted but was successful in September.  
 
Work continued remodelling the Staffordshire Archive and Heritage Service to be implemented 2020/21. 

2.2  Examining and developing new areas of 
income generation to support the 
service, together with stakeholders 
 

Worked with Friends of Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service to identify new fundraising goals for digitisation 
equipment. 
Archive Testbed application for digitisation drop in sessions in rural communities was successful bringing in £4,126 
Strategic support for Sandwell Archives continues bringing in £3,000 per annum.  
£35,000 of funding has been secured through a section 106 agreement for the Rugeley Power Station Archive 

2.3  Ensuring the long-term security of 
collections by housing archive collections in 
EN16893 compliant storage, housing museum 
collections in the best possible conditions, and 

Work to improve access to Lichfield Collections by cataloguing is ongoing. 
Annual Conservation programme delivered.  
Work on ephemera, photographic and puppet collections at the Museum is continuing. 

P
age 24



 
 

having space to continue to collect for the next 
20 years 
 

2.4  Regularly reviewing our collections 
development policies and taking a more 
strategic active approach to collections 
development, including deaccessioning and 
disposal  

Appraisal of collections is continuing. 
Collections Development Policy has been reviewed and introduction to all policies has been updated.  

2.5  Reviewing and improving our collections 
information to be more efficient and user-
focused with an improved collections interface 
which allows people to contribute information. 
Volunteers playing an integral role, working 
with staff, to develop collections information. 
Online resources have strong indexes and 
catalogues to maximize access. 

Doulton Described project funded by National Archives Cataloguing Grant and Art Fund has been completed. 
 
Work has continued to focus on Lichfield collections for back cataloguing and improving catalogue descriptions. 
Current cataloguing and creation of Collection Level Descriptions for larger accessions has continued. 
 
Lichfield Bawdy Courts cataloguing project has begun assisted by volunteers and funded PhD student in partnership with 
Keele University. 
 
Wellcome Trust Funded Asylum project has begun to enrich the catalogue with more detailed descriptions of case notes.  
 
Volunteer research to add photographs to Staffordshire Past Track from the Stoke on Trent City Archives and Museum 
collections has continued.  

2.6  Being more active in attracting new users 
and providing them with different 
opportunities to engage with collections 
 

Blogs launched for Asylum and Bawdy Courts projects. 
Family History Advice sessions offered at Stafford, Lichfield History Access Point and though Stoke on Trent Libraries 
Newly catalogued collections promoted on social media. 
 

2.7  Redesigning/developing buildings to allow 
us to provide the types of services required in 
a more cost-effective, sustainable way 
 

New development phase for Staffordshire History Centre commenced December 2019 will review designs for the centre 
and activity plans. 
 
Evaluation of the offer at Lichfield History Access Point is being carried out. 

2.8  Providing a new means of engagement 
for users through a new exhibition space. 
Some exhibitions are co-created by users and 
stakeholder groups building on the existing 
work developed by the Museum Service. 
 

Cross service exhibition team established 
 
Distinctive Staffordshire Exhibition delivered in the summer at Staffordshire Record Office. 
 
Additional smaller displays delivered at Staffordshire Record Office and History Access Point on the themes of Queen 
Victoria, D-Day,  Moon landings, Civil War, Christmas, and new accessions received.  

2.9  Delivering an outreach programme to take 
collections and resources out to communities 
beyond its main buildings. 
 

Outreach programme including reminiscence sessions with Libraries continued. Loans of items to other museums 
including Bantock House and Shugborough has continued. 
 
 

2.10  Strengthening our presence around the 
county by working with Active Partners, such 
as libraries and heritage groups, to deliver 
access points in existing community spaces, 
reaching more people 
 

Training sessions delivered to volunteers at the Lichfield History Access Point and Shenstone Library. 
Stoke on Trent City Archives continues to deliver family history advice sessions in Community Libraries. 

P
age 25



 
 

2.11  There is a new focus on providing online 
resources and a rejuvenated online presence 
to reach more people, balanced with a  
programme to engage more people with the 
original documents 
 

Work has commenced to review plans for the digital offer in the SHC project by consulting with partners. 

2.12  We acknowledge that these new ways of 
working will need staff resources and training 
and will build on the expertise we have 
developed in our existing programmes to 
deliver a more joined-up, cross-disciplinary 
service. 
 

In house training on new collections has been delivered.  

Performance Measures Percentage of collections housed in appropriate storage: 100% 
Percentage of collections with collection-level description online: figure calculated at year end 
Number of documents issued: 12,300 estimated  
Number of objects loaned: Year-end figure 
Delivery of MTFS savings: £179,285 overspent due to delays in implementing new staffing model 

 
Service Demand 3: Archives and Heritage Service has diversified its users, stakeholders and collections. This has resulted in 
increased visibility and understanding of the service by the public and increased levels of new users. People are proud of the 
Staffordshire History Centre 
 
 By 2025: 

 The service is THE focus for the history and collections of Staffordshire. 

 Collections have diversified. 

 The Service has at least retained its current numbers of researchers in the searchroom and promoted the use of original documents, 

while increasing the number of users attending activities, browsing facilities and using the service online. 

 The service has built on its support amongst local communities and increased the membership of Friends organisations and their 

active involvement with the Service. 

 Public awareness of the diverse themes and treasures within the collection has grown, including that of the William Salt Library 

Service Delivery Activities Key Milestones 

3.1  Testing, developing and embedding new 
ways of engaging with people and new ways 
for them to engage with the collections across 
a range of subjects and disciplines 

New touring exhibition ‘On Your Doorstep’ delivered by Museum Service featuring items from museum and archive 
collection, funded by Arts Council. 
 
Support for Nottingham University Place Names project has continued.  

3.2  Increasing levels of work with community 
groups and non-traditional users of the service 

Attended one community history fairs at Amerton 
Worked with Chebsey and Colton local history groups to support their work.  
Oral history training delivered to Betley Garden restoration trust 

P
age 26



 
 

Trained St Mary’s Hub (Lichfied) to add their photograph collection to Past Track; they have not progressed it.  
28 talks delivered to local history and community groups to date.  

3.3  Investing in marketing, promotion and use 
of social media to reach new users 

SHC branding is being used for touring exhibitions and at the Lichfield HAP. 
New SHC development phase will develop a marketing strategy for delivery of the project. 
Digital newsletter continues to promote the work of the Service. 

3.4  Providing ways to browse the collections 
online and onsite through permanent and 
temporary exhibitions 

Distinctive Staffordshire exhibition delivered in the summer. 
Pushing up Daisies exhibition being developed with exhibition volunteer group to launch in March 2020. 

3.5  Allowing the browsing of book collections 
wherever possible 

SHC development phase developed a space for browsing William Salt Library book collections. Plans will be reviewed 
and updated in the new development phase.  

3.6  Developing a strong learning programme 
in an active relationship, working closely with 
teachers, tutors and initial teacher training 
courses to raise awareness of how archives 
and heritage can deliver the national 
curriculum 

New SHC development phase is recruiting a new consultant to review and strengthen the Learning Plan as part of the 
Activity Plan but it is dependent on external funding for delivery. 
 
School and university placements continue to be offered to students as well as support for distance learning students.  
 
Two partnership study days were delivered.  
Maintained out of school study sessions for local schools at SRO.  
 

3.7  Developing a set of resources to interpret 
its collections based on the interests and 
motivations of a wider audience and using 
these to engage with new users 

New SHC development phase will review the Activity Plan including delivery of exhibitions, events and community 
delivered exhibitions.  

3.8  By integrating collections across the 
Archives and Heritage Service, increasing 
new audiences’ access to and engagement 
with cross-disciplinary exhibitions 

As above this work is being reviewed as part of the new development phase.  
 
The review of the Loans Policy was completed and the service continues to loan items from Museum and Archive 
collections to support  exhibitions. 

Performance Measures Number of talks and events delivered by Service: 28 to date 
Number of attendees at all events and talks delivered by Service: 1,034 to date 
Number of exhibition appearances: 11 to date 

 
Service Demand 4: The Archives and Heritage Service shares knowledge on new ways of working with other services  
 
 By 2025: 

 The service acts as a national focus for sector knowledge in active partnerships, including volunteering.  This has 

 involved partnerships with the National Archives, Arts Council England and the Archives and Records Association. 

 The service supports other museums and organisations which hold objects and archives in their collections to 

ensure they are secure, accessible and sustainable. 

Service Delivery Activities Key Milestones 

P
age 27



 
 

4.1  Exploring new ways of working and 
sharing this knowledge with the wider archive 
and museum sector, gaining further insight in 
response 

Service is actively involved with Archives West Midlands including presenting at the Discovering Collections, Discovering 
Communities conference in Nov 2019. Staff also presented at the West Midlands Museum Development event, Society 
of Bookbinders conference and Rural Museums conference 
Case studies have been provided for the LGA on Archive Service transformation, and the Collections Trust. 

4.2  Developing a close relationship with 
voluntary sector organisations, providing the 
archive and museum sector with support in 
developing volunteering programmes 

Stakeholder engagement for the round 1 SHC bid included VAST who are located next door to Staffordshire Record 
Office.  
Work has progressed on the Development Trust.  

4.3  Reviewing and developing its income 
generation programme. 

Fees and charges were reviewed for the year.  

4.4  Supporting and advising heritage groups 
across the county on their development 

Museum Development Officer engagement programme continues to be delivered. 
Two museums are mentored: Claymills and Chasewater Railway 
Advice has been provided to Wombourne PC, Moseley Old Hall,Barton-u-Needwood PC, Rugeley Power Station, 
Victoria Park 

4.5  Providing opportunities for its users to 
share their knowledge and experience with 
each other, and providing experts to share 
their knowledge with users both on-site and 
online 

New blogs have been launched for the Bawdy Courts, Asylum and new exhibition Pushing up Daisies. Project staff 
attended an academic conference to promote the Asylum project. 
Nottingham University continues tweet about the Place Names project.  
Archives West Midlands promotes the service projects through twitter.  
Participants in the Pauper Vouchers Project continue to share discoveries on the project blog and social media.  
 

Performance Measures Number of organisations actively engaged with in an advisory capacity: 101 museums, 5 organisations re 
archives and preservation to date 

 
 
Service Demand 5: Archives and Heritage Service has increased its activity online and is delivering more services online. 
 By 2025:  

 The service has a presence on key sites beyond its own website, delivering regular content to users on the sites 

they use frequently 

 More services are delivered online and more collections are available online 

 Born digital archives are properly managed and accessible 

Service Delivery Activities Key Milestones 

5.1 Developing user participation as a key aim 
of the service’s online offer 

Digital plan was tested with stakeholders prior to round submission to NLHF for the SHC project. Consultation with 
partners has begun in the new development phase.  

5.2 Digital content is seen as a ‘way in’ for 
new, non-traditional users. 

Three new indexes are due to be added to the Staffordshire Names Indexes website. 
1,511  images have been added to the Staffordshire Past Track website. 
Tithes maps have been digitised and a solution for online access is being tested.  
 

P
age 28



 
 

5.3 Providing online resources, with a 
rejuvenated online presence to reach more 
people on platforms that maximise access. 

The promotional programme of Find My Past continued through social media. 
Additional cataloguing being completed of William Salt Library collection funded by NLHF development phase. 

5.4  Balancing online access with a 
recognition that access to original documents 
is still important to many users and that online 
access is not for everyone 

Revised opening hours implemented at Staffordshire Record Office following consultation.  

5.5  Developing a plan to manage and provide 
access to born digital archives. 

Staff have attended digital preservation training offered by Archives West Midlands. Plan for implementation of new 
software has been developed. 
  

5.6  Developing a Digital Plan that provides 
access to as many user services as possible, 
is sustainable, and links virtual visits to 
physical visits. 

Have explored addition of payments facility to Staffordshire Name Indexes site with Staffs ICT but this has stalled.  
 
 

5.7  Implementing a digitisation programme 
with priority given to items that cannot be 
physically accessible on demand 

292 Staffordshire Tithe Maps have been digitised supported by £13,500 of funding raised by Friends of Staffordshire and 
Stoke on Trent Archive Service  
 

5.8  Providing access to as many user 
services as possible through a new web 
service 

See under 5.1 
 

5.9  Developing active partnerships for key 
digital heritage access points 

Lichfield History Access Point continues to offer digital access to collections available. 

5.10  Engaging with existing and new users 
and raising awareness of the relevance of 
archives through a strong use of social media 

Promotion of the service and its projects continued through social media with most targets exceeded.  

Performance Measures Visits to Service websites (all online offers): 1,625,299 to date (30% increase) 

 

P
age 29





 Members Interest 
N/A 

 
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Joint Archive Committee 

6 February 2020 
 
 
 

Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service: Staffordshire History Centre 
Project Update 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

1. That the committee notes the update on the Staffordshire History Centre project. 
 
2. That the committee approves continuation of the work on the development trust 
and nomination of trustees. 
 
Report of Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families and Communities 
(Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community 
Services (Stoke on Trent City Council) 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

Summary 
 

3. The Staffordshire History Centre Project was granted permission to start by the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund on 17 December 2019. Work has commenced to 
commission consultants to review work completed in the previous development 
phase. 
 
4. At the Joint Archive Committee on 21st December 2017 the Committee approved 
proposals to create a development trust for the Staffordshire History Centre. Work 
has started again on this proposal and the committee is asked to review this and 
confirm continuation and implementation of the trust. 
 
Development phase  
 
5. Two pieces of work have been commissioned to appoint consultants to deliver work 
for the project. The first piece of work is for a consultant needed to carry out 
audience research and develop a marketing strategy for the Staffordshire 
History Centre project. The second piece of work is for a consultant to review the 
learning aspects of the activity plan, with a focus on the work carried out with 
schools. The consultants will be appointed with agreement from the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund aiming to start in February. 
 
6. The audience research work will enable the project team to update, refresh and 
strengthen understanding of current and potential audiences for the centre and the 
types of activities which will attract visitors. The marketing strategy will be essential 
to inform the delivery stage and promotion of the History Centre as a new venue and 
the touring exhibitions and activities delivered throughout the project.  

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



  
7. The learning work will provide greater consultation with teachers and further 
piloting of activities with school pupils and young people. This is essential to 
deliver greater development of curriculum linked activities that be 
implemented at the next stage of the project.  
 
8. Smaller commissions are being confirmed with the consultants who developed the 
Conservation Management Plan and Evaluation Strategy in the 2016-2018 
development phase. These plans are still valid and require a light touch review to 
update them.  
 
9. Work on the project Business Plan has commenced and will be delivered by the 
project team with support from the Finance Business Partner and Transformation 
Support Unit. The plan will be informed by the audience development research and 
the learning work. Preparation of the William Salt Library collection for relocation has 
commenced with a combination of cataloguing by the Assistant Librarian and 
repackaging work by volunteers. A review of the digital offer for the project is also 
underway through consultation with partners from the City’s Potteries Museum and 
Art Gallery and the County’s Historic Environment team. A review of the design 
proposals has identified an opportunity to improve the environmental outcomes from 
the project through redevelopment of the William Salt Library garden and 
development of a wildlife corridor. 
 
Development trust 
 
10. During the previous development phase research was completed into the potential 
for creating a development trust to fundraise for the Staffordshire History Centre. The 
primary purpose for creating a trust was to sustain fundraising after the NLHF project 
is completed and provide a means to continue some activities. 
 
11. Both the Joint Archives Committee and William Salt Library Trust approved in 
principle the establishment of a trust in 2017/2018. The draft objectives of the 
Development Trust are: 
 

To advance education for the public benefit by promoting the understanding 
and appreciation of the history and heritage of the historic county of 
Staffordshire through raising funds to support in particular, but not exclusively, 
the care, interpretation and access to the collections held in the Staffordshire 
History Centre and Stoke-on-Trent City Archives, and the educational 
programmes and activities organised by or in conjunction with the Staffordshire 
History Centre and Stoke-on-Trent City Archives. 

 
In disbursing its funds, the CIO will be guided by professional advice from the 
Staffordshire History Centre and other heritage specialists as required. The use 
of the CIO’s unrestricted funds will reflect the priority to support the care 
of all the collections in the Staffordshire History Centre and Stoke-on-Trent City 
Archives, with due regard to the deposited collections of the William Salt Library 

Page 32



and the Lichfield Diocese, and the educational programmes to promote wider 
understanding and appreciation of these important resources.  

 
12. The main interested bodies in the development trust were identified as: 
 

 Staffordshire County Council and Stoke on Trent City Council through the Joint 
Archives Committee 

 William Salt Library Trust 
 Diocese of Lichfield 
 University of Keele 

  
13. Both councils manage the Archive Service through the Joint Agreement and Joint 
Archives Committee. The William Salt Library Trust is the key partner in the 
Staffordshire History Centre. The Lichfield Diocese is a major depositor of diocesan 
and parish archives to Staffordshire Record Office. The University of Keele manages 
the Victoria County History project which is based in the William Salt Library and until 
2018 received funding from Staffordshire County Council. With the cessation of this 
funding Keele University would like to attract external funding through the development 
trust in joint projects with the Staffordshire History Centre. 
 
14. It is proposed that the four bodies nominate the first four trustees. Additional 
trustees would be sought with skills and experience in areas such as legal services, 
finance and fundraising. At lease two are required to enable the trust to be registered 
with the Charity Commission. The legal advice was that the two councils will need to 
take nominations to the new trust through their own corporate routes before they can 
formally appoint a trustee.   
 
15. The most straightforward structure for the development trust is the Charitable 
Incorporated Organisation (CIO). This would make the trust a corporate body and able, 
if it so wished, to employ staff and deliver its charitable objects under contractual 
agreements. Importantly, it means that trustees are not personally liable for what the 
charity does. The Charity Commission recommends two possible structures for new 
CIOs. These are: 
Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO) Foundation model 
Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO) Association model 
 
16. The first of these, the Foundation model, is the appropriate one for the new 
development trust. The Head of Archives and Heritage and Chair of the William Salt 
Library Trust have worked through the Foundation model to identify the appropriate 
options for the development trust. It is recommended that the Joint Archives 
Committee agree to progress nomination of a representative and that this is confirmed 
through the appropriate routes for both councils.  
 
17. It is also recommended that this work proceeds even if the round 2 application is 
unsuccessful in 2020. A separate fundraising trust will support development of 
activities and ensure diversification of income for the Archive and Heritage Service.  
 
 

Page 33



Timescales and next steps 
 
18. Assuming suitable consultants can be appointed work should commence on 
audience development, marketing and learning in February. Work has already 
commenced on the Business Plan, digital offer, and reviewing the garden created 
through the project.  
 
19. The next steps for establishing the development trust are: 

 Seek nominations for the first trustees 
 Draft the governing document for approval by the trustees 
 Submit the application to the Charity Commission 

 
20. The target submission date for the round two application is September 2020 with 
a mid-stage review for the project in April/May.  
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Equalities implications: 
 
The National Archives, stakeholders, partners and staff have been involved in 
development of the project.  
 

Legal implications: 
Nominations to the development trust will be confirmed by legal teams in both 
authorities and taken through the appropriate corporate route. 
 

Resource and Value for money implications: 
 

The delivery of the Staffordshire History Centre will enable the Archive and Heritage 
Service to achieve a sustainable model for the future and deliver the MTFS saving of 
£468,000.  
 

Risk implications: 
 

There is a risk that funding will not be secured for any of the options. This will impact 
upon the accreditation status of the Archive and Heritage Service.  
 

Climate Change implications: 
 

The project balances online access and physical access to services and collections to 
offer options for remote use and not necessarily travel to multiple locations. Any new 
buildings will be compliant with modern standards for energy efficiency and minimise 
impacts on climate change. The project includes elements to improve the outcomes 
for wildlife and the environment. 
 

Health Impact Assessment screening: 
 

The project will offer opportunities for volunteers to get involved and add value to the 
service with support and accredited training programmes from staff. Volunteering 
provides many social benefits for individuals which can impact positively on health.  
 

Report author: 

Page 34



 

Authors’ Names: Joanna Terry, Head of Archives & Heritage 
 
Telephone No:  (01785) 278370 
Room No: Staffordshire Record Office 
 
List of Background Papers 
 

Papers  Contact/Directorate/ext number 
 

Page 35





 Members Interest 

N/A 

 

Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Joint Archive Committee 
6 February 2020 

 
 
 

Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service: Review of Terms of Deposit 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 

1. That the committee approves the revised Terms of Deposit. 
 
 
Report of Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families and Communities 
(Staffordshire County Council) and Director of Housing and Community 
Services (Stoke on Trent City Council) 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

Summary 
 

2. The Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service is responsible for the 
location, collection and preservation of archive collections relating to past life within 
the administrative County of Staffordshire and the City of Stoke on Trent and for 
making these collections available for use by the public.  The Service is willing to 
receive deposits of records on loan for an indefinite period and to receive records by 
gift or bequest under the approved Terms of Deposit. 
 
3. The current Terms of Deposit have been in force since 2008 when they were last 
approved by the Committee. The new General Data Protection Regulations has 
prompted a review of the terms to ensure they are compliant with the legislation. The 
opportunity has been taken to review and update other elements of the terms. 
 
Background and context 
 
4. On 25 May 2018 the new General Data Protection Regulations came into force. 
This made some changes to the way personal data is handled and gave new rights 
to data subjects.  The GDPR provides the following rights for individuals: 

1. The right to be informed 

2. The right of access 

3. The right to rectification 

4. The right to erasure 

5. The right to restrict processing 

6. The right to data portability 

7. The right to object 

8. Rights in relation to automated decision making and profiling. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



5. Under the 2018 Act there are special provisions for archive services referred to as 
‘archiving in the public interest’. This provision enables the service to continue to 
collect records which contain personal data and to keep records of who has donated 
or deposited these collections.  

6. The Terms of Deposit has been updated to ensure that owners of collections are 
aware of what the service will do with personal data in collections. It also makes 
clear how personal data about the owner will be used by the service.  

Key changes 

7. Changes have been made in the definitions for the ‘Council’ and the ‘2018 Act’. 
Under section three paragraph 3.1 has been strengthened to take account of non-
return of signed receipts by owners. 3.5 makes clear that any significant weeding of 
collections will incur a cost to the owner.  

8. Paragraph 3.6 makes clear that the council is joint data controller with the 
depositor and they must make the service aware of personal data within collections.  
3.7 explains why the owner’s name and address is retained and refers to ‘archiving 
in the public interest’ to ensure the service can make use of the special provisions.  

9. Section five makes clear multiple copies will be made of digital collections to 
ensure the ongoing preservation of collections. It also ensures the depositor is aware 
of their responsibility around copyright when depositing collections.  

10. Under section 10 the clause on claiming costs if a collection is withdrawn has 
been clarified.  

11. The changes have been made in consultation with the County Council’s legal 
team and Information Governance Unit. A review of the processes for deposit of 
collections has been completed. Letter templates have been updated to take account 
of the new Terms of Deposit.   

12. The committee is asked to approve the revised terms to ensure the Joint Archive 
Service is compliant with the 2018 Act. The Terms of Deposit on the service website 
will be updated once the terms have been approved.  

 
Appendix 1 
 
Equalities implications: 
 
No implications 
 

Legal implications: 
 

The Terms of Deposit have been updated to take account of the new 2018 General 
Data Protection Regulations. Legal advice has been sought in making the changes.  
 

Resource and Value for money implications: 
 

Page 38



No implications. 
 

Risk implications: 
 

The revised terms ensure owners of collections are made aware of the 2018 GDPR 
requirements and their responsibilities when depositing collections.  
 

Climate Change implications: 
 

No implications. 
 

Health Impact Assessment screening: 
 

No implications.  
 

Report author: 
 

Authors’ Names: Joanna Terry, Head of Archives & Heritage 
 
Telephone No:  (01785) 278370 
Room No: Staffordshire Record Office 
 
List of Background Papers 
 

Papers  Contact/Directorate/ext number 
 
Appendix Two Joint Archives Terms of Deposit 2020 
 

Page 39





 

 1 

STAFFORDSHIRE AND STOKE ON TRENT ARCHIVE SERVICE 
 

TERMS OF AGREEMENT FOR THE DEPOSIT OF RECORDS 
 

(REVISED 2020) 
 
The Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service is responsible for the location, collection 
and preservation of archive collections relating to past life within the administrative County of 
Staffordshire and the City of Stoke on Trent and for making these collections available for use 
by the public.  The Archive Service is willing to receive deposits of records on loan for an 
indefinite period and to receive records by gift or bequest under the following terms. 
 
1. Statutory Powers 
 

The Archive Service is: 
 
(i) the authorised archive service for the custody of the official records of Staffordshire 

County Council and Stoke on Trent City Council and their predecessor authorities and 
the District and Parish Councils within the County of Stafford and the City of Stoke on 
Trent under the provisions of the Local Government Acts, 1972 and 1992. 

 
(ii) designated by the Lord Chancellor as the local place of deposit for specified classes of 

records of central government and its local agencies, called Public Records, under the 
provisions of the Public Records Acts, 1958 and 1967. 

 
(iii) designated by the Diocese of Lichfield as the diocesan archive service for parochial 

records within the archdeaconries of Stoke-upon-Trent, Lichfield and Walsall under the 
terms of the Parochial Registers and Records Measure, 1978, as amended in 1992. 

 
(iv) the authorised place of deposit for the deposit of tithe records under the provisions of the 

Tithe Redemption Act, 1936 and of manorial records under the Manorial Document 
Rules, 1959. 

 
(v) empowered under the provisions of the Local Government (Records) Act, 1962, to 

purchase records, to accept gifts and bequests of records and to accept records on loan 
from any source not covered by (i) - (iv) above. 

 
2. Definition of Terms  
 

Depositor: The person/organisation or their heirs in law or their successors in title or 
office who is the owner of the records and who places them in the custody of the 
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service. 
 
Council: the Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Joint Archives Committee as established 
by an Agreement dated 26 March 1997 as updated, amended and renewed from time to 
time. 

 
Archive Service: the Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Archive Service, comprising 
Staffordshire Record Office and Stoke on Trent City Archives. 
  
Head of Archive Services: means such person(s) as appointed by the Staffordshire 
and Stoke on Trent Joint Archives Committee on behalf of Staffordshire County Council. 
 

Page 41



 

 2 

Data Controller: means such person who determines the purposes and processes by 
which personal data is processed during the period when the records remain on deposit. 

 
Records: the property of the Depositor listed in the final catalogue produced by the 
Archive Service or, in the absence of a full catalogue, as described in any receipt or 
accession summary. 
 
Data Protection Legislation means the Data Protection Act 2018, the European 
Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (EU) 2016/679) and all other 
applicable laws and regulations relating to the processing of personal data, sensitive 
personal data and privacy, including where applicable the guidance and codes of 
practice issued by the Information Commissioner (as amended or re-enacted from time 
to time). 

 
3. Deposit 
 
3.1 The terms of this Agreement shall apply to all Records deposited with the Archive 

Service on or after 6 February 2020, and the Depositor is deemed to agree to these 
terms when leaving Records on deposit with the Archive Service. Any variation to these 
terms must be agreed with the Head of Archive Services at the time of deposit and any 
such variations will be recorded in writing.  
 

3.2 In the case of parish records belonging to and deposited by the Parochial Church 
Council of an ecclesiastical parish within the Diocese of Lichfield, the Records will be 
held in accordance with the terms specified in the Parochial Registers and Records 
Measure 1978, amended 1992, and nothing in these terms of agreement shall override 
or countermand the terms of that measure. 

 
3.3 The Records shall remain deposited in the custody of the Council for such a period 

sufficient to justify the Council's expenditure on storage, cataloguing and conservation.  
In normal circumstances, this would be for a minimum of thirty years. 
 

3.4 The Council reserves the right either to return to the Depositor any records which the 
Head of Archive Services considers to be of no historical or administrative value, or to 
destroy them with the consent of the Depositor. Records relating to other counties may 
be transferred to a more appropriate place of deposit with the consent of the Depositor. 
 

3.5 Where a large amount of material is included which falls outside our collecting policy, a 
contribution towards the time taken in appraisal and weeding will be charged to the 
Depositor at the current hourly rate. 
 

3.6 The Council shall be the Joint Data Controller of the Records with the Depositor in 
compliance with Data Protection Legislation. The Council shall reserve the right not to 
take records on deposit which may still be needed by the Depositor to support decisions 
concerning individuals.  Where the Depositor is aware of personal data within the 
Records, they must notify the Archive Service at the point of deposit. 
 

3.7 The Council shall keep and maintain the name and address of the Depositor, both in 
hard copy and by electronic database, for the purpose of archiving in the public interest, 
and to demonstrate the provenance of the collections. Contact information will not be 
released to third parties without the express written permission of the Depositor. This 
also applies to donors of records. 
 

Page 42



 

 3 

3.8 Any change in the name or address of the Depositor of the Records, or any change of 
ownership, must be notified to the Head of Archive Services.  The Council will not accept 
responsibility for any consequences which may arise from the failure to notify such 
changes by the Depositor. 
 

3.9 It shall be the responsibility of the Depositor to ensure that there will be no breach of any 
copyright in providing the deposited Records to the Archive Service. 

 
4. Gifts and Bequests 
 
4.1 Records may be given or bequeathed to the Archive Service and in such cases the 

Records shall become the absolute property of Staffordshire County Council, Stoke on 
Trent City Council or their successor authorities, to be preserved by the Archive Service, 
subject to the Archive Service accepting any condition of receiving such gift or bequest, 
which will be recorded in writing. 

 
5. Storage, Conservation and Preservation 
 
5.1 The Archive Service will store the Records in secure and appropriate environmental 

conditions, will package the Records where required, and will take all reasonable 
precautions to preserve the Records from damage, loss or theft, but shall not otherwise 
be liable to the Depositor for any damage to or loss or theft of any Records arising from 
events beyond the control of the Archive Service during the deposit period. 

 
5.2 It shall be the responsibility of the Depositor to ensure that appropriate insurance 

arrangements are made for any deposited Records at its own expense. Any privately-
owned archive collections that have been deposited will be covered by the Archive 
Service’s insurance for the cost of physical repair and conservation arising from any 
damage from whatever cause while in the custody of the Archive Service. However, the 
documents will not be insured for compensation in the event of the total loss of Records. 

 
5.3 The Archive Service shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to take any of the following 

conservation and preservation actions in respect of the deposited Records: 
 

(i) To photograph, microfilm or otherwise copy them.  
 

(ii) To number them in a non-permanent manner with a finding reference for their 
identification and safe-keeping. 

 
(iii) To carry out such work in regard to the conservation of the Records as the Head 
of Archive Services may from time to time consider desirable and practicable, in order to 
prevent deterioration in accordance with the overall conservation programme of the 
Archive Service. 

 
(iv) To withhold public access to Records which are in a fragile condition until all 
necessary conservation work on them has been completed. 
 
(v) To make copies for preservation reasons of digital archives. Multiple copies are 
required to enable secure storage, migration to newer formats, and creation of access 
copies. 
 

6. Cataloguing 
 

Page 43



 

 4 

6.1 The Records will be catalogued by the Archive Service as part of its programme of 
cataloguing all collections in its custody and in accordance with the best current practice.  
The Council will include catalogue entries for the Records in its online catalogue, and a 
copy of the final full catalogue will be provided to the Depositor upon request. 

 
6.2 The ownership of and copyright in the final catalogue or any copy of it and in any other 

finding aids shall vest in the Council. 
 
6.3 The Archive Service places lists of accessions on its own web site annually and makes 

summary details of accessions of Records available to The National Archives. 
 
7. Access 
 
7.1 The Records will be made available to the public for purposes of research, free of 

charge in the supervised reading rooms of the Archive Service during advertised 
opening hours and in accordance with the Archive Service's registration requirements 
and procedures, subject to: 

 
(i) any exception agreed between the Council and the Depositor under paragraph 3.1 
above;  
 
(ii) any access restrictions and/or any requirements under legislation, including Freedom 
of Information;  
 
(iii) any personal information contained in the Records being subject to Data Protection 
Legislation. 

 
7.2      The Depositor understands and agrees that the Records shall be available for access in 

accordance with paragraph 7.1 and shall not impose any unwarranted or indefinite 
restriction to access such Records on the Archive Service. 

 
7.3 Where the Depositor has stipulated at the time of deposit that their Records may not be  
            used for a legal purpose or for legal proceedings without their prior consent, the Archive  

Service will notify the Depositor when requests for access for legal purposes are made. 
In such cases, Records will not be made available without the express permission of the 
Depositor unless a court orders their production. The Council shall not accept any 
liability for the use of Records for legal purposes if it has not been made aware of such 
use by any member of the public using the Records for that purpose.  

 
7.4 All users of the Archive Service will be made aware, where appropriate, of the 

requirement to comply with Data Protection Legislation. Researchers who do not comply 
with the Data Protection Legislation will be personally liable for any infringement. 

 
7.5 Copies of Records will only be supplied to the public in accordance with current 

copyright legislation and on payment of an appropriate charge. No further reproduction 
of Records shall be allowed without the consent of the Head of Archive Services. The 
Council will take all reasonable measures to inform the public of their responsibilities 
under copyright legislation but shall not accept liability for any infringement by a member 
of the public.  

 
7.6  Copies will not be provided if it is considered that the copying process will lead to the 

damage or destruction of the original document.  If in the opinion of the Head of Archive 

Page 44



 

 5 

Services the scale and circumstances of the proposed copying are such as to affect the 
Depositor's interests, the Depositor will be consulted before the copying is approved. 

 
8 Publication and Other Additional Reproduction 
 
8.1 Unless otherwise agreed at the time of deposit, the publication of images of deposited 

Records shall be allowed at the discretion of the Head of Archive Services, subject to 
due acknowledgement to the Archive Service. 
 

8.2 The Archive Service reserves the right to publish images or text of records in hard copy 
or in electronic form in its own publications to illustrate the work of the Archive Service 
without the further permission of the Depositor. 

 
9 Exhibitions 
 
9.1 The temporary removal of deposited Records for a period not exceeding six months from 

any of the repositories which comprise the Archive Service for exhibition may be 
allowed, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the Depositor and subject to the 
Council being satisfied that appropriate provision has been made for the security and 
insurance of the deposited Records during transit and display.  In such circumstances 
the Head of Archive Services shall ensure that the Council is indemnified against loss or 
damage and that appropriate insurance is arranged for that purpose by the borrowing 
institution, a copy of the insurance policy being produced to the Head of Archive 
Services if requested.  In the case of the exhibition of Records outside the United 
Kingdom, the Head of Archive Services shall ensure that the borrowing institution follows 
all required export procedures. 

 
9.2 Deposited Records may be displayed in original or copy form by the Archive Service on 

the Council’s premises or under the supervision of Archive Service staff.   
 
10. Withdrawals 
 
10.1 A Depositor is entitled to remove their Records temporarily or permanently in 

accordance with paragraph 10.2 and 10.3.  A Depositor, or their agent, who is preparing 
to withdraw the deposited Records, whether temporarily or permanently, must prove 
their entitlement to receive the Records to the satisfaction of the Archive Service. 

 
10.2 Temporary Withdrawal 
 

The Depositor may withdraw their Records temporarily after giving a minimum of one 
week’s prior notice to the Archive Service.  The Depositor is asked to make proper 
provision for the security of the Records during the period of withdrawal.  If the Records 
are to be put on display, the Archive Service will advise the Depositor on the suitability of 
the Depositor's proposed arrangements for the security and physical keeping of the 
Records. In the case of parish registers or other significant parish records, the provisions 
of the Parochial Registers and Records Measure 1978, amended 1992, require storage 
of such items in the church safe when not in use. 

 
10.3 Permanent Withdrawal 
 

(i) The Depositor may withdraw the deposited Records at any time, after giving not less 
than twelve calendar months' notice of the intention to do so, or such shorter period 
of notice at the discretion of the Head of Archive Services.  

Page 45



 

 6 

 
(ii) During the period of notice the Archive Service will be entitled to copy the Records 

by such method as is deemed appropriate by the Head of Archive Services and to 
retain the copy as the property of the Archive Service after the removal of the 
Records.  The Archive Service will continue to make such copies accessible to the 
public, subject to the conditions and limitations set out in paragraphs 7 and 8 above, 
save only that publication, in whole or in part, will not be allowed without the consent 
of the Depositor.  

 
(iii) In the event of permanent withdrawal, the Council reserves the right to claim from 

the Depositor a contribution for the costs invested by the Council in the storage, 
cataloguing and conservation of the records, to be calculated by the Head of Archive 
Services on the basis of the type of records deposited and the amount of such work 
carried out by the Archive Service. 

 
(iv) Where a collection is withdrawn for sale, the Archive Service shall have the first 

option to purchase the collection, less the cost calculated under paragraph 10.3(iii). 
 
 
February 2020 

 

Page 46



Document is Restricted

Page 47

Agenda Item 10
Not for publication by virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972





Document is Restricted

Page 51

Agenda Item 11
Not for publication by virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on 14 November 2019
	4 Predicted Outturn 2019/20 and 2020/21 Revenue Budget
	060220 Finance report - Appendix 2
	060220 Finance Report - Appendix 3
	060220 Finance Report - Appendix 4

	5 Predicted Performance Outturn 2019/20
	060220 Appendix 2 Predicted Performance Outturn 2020

	6 Staffordshire History Centre Project - Update
	7 Review of Terms of Deposit
	060220 Appendix 2 Joint Archives - Terms of Deposit revision 2020 final

	10 Relocation of Stoke-on-Trent City Archives
	11 Update on Archives and Heritage Service Reorganisation

